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No undertakings were filed in this proceeding.

Monday, May 14, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:45 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.  My name is Ken Quesnelle.  I will be presiding on today's proceeding.

The matter before us is continuation of OEB file number EB-2016-0380.  On March 16, 2018, the OEB issued Procedural Order No. 5.  The OEB determined that it would convene today's hearing to the hear further evidence on the ability of Ensqr Corporation to process OESP credits and to provide an opportunity to explain why its licence should not be revoked.

In addition, the enforcement team was asked to present a witness from ICF Olson and to attend the oral hearing in order to provide an update on the ability of Ensqr Corporation to process OESP credit.

On March 27, 2018, the OEB issued a letter which established this date for the hearing.  The two parties in this proceeding are Ensqr Corporation and the OEB enforcement team.  I will take appearances now.
Appearances:


MR. SAFAYENI:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  It is Justin Safayeni on behalf of the OEB enforcement team, and to my right is Chris Marijan.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Safayeni.

MR. GUNDE:  Good morning, this is Harshal Gunde, representing Ensqr Corp.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Gunde.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Mr. Quesnelle.  My name is James Sidlofsky here as Board counsel, and I am here with Michael Bell, the case manager for this file.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Sidlofsky.  I understand we are going to be starting this morning with a brief statement from the OEB enforcement team.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.  It will be very, very brief.

As you noted in your introductory remarks we are here today because of the Board's Procedural Order No. 5 to hear further evidence on the ability of Ensqr to process OESP applications and credits and to provide Ensqr with an opportunity to address the issue of licence revocation.

In accordance with the Board's procedure order, the OEB enforcement team has arranged for Matt Jones, who is an account director at ICF Olson, to be here today and to present evidence related to Ensqr's ability to process OESP applications.

The OEB enforcement team doesn't intend to call any witnesses apart from Mr. Jones, given the issues at this stage as defined by Procedural order No. 5.

That being said, Ms. Marijan is here and she is available should the panel have any questions, but I do not intend to call her.

In terms of process, of course, I am in your hands, but the parties have had some discussion and I think -- Mr. Gunde will correct me, but I think we are generally in agreement that the enforcement team is content to go first and call Mr. Jones to provide his evidence in chief.  Mr. Gunde will, of course, have a chance to cross-examine and subject to any reply that will close our case.

Mr. Gunde, I believe, is the only witness who will be speaking to or presenting evidence on behalf of Ensqr.

I expect I will have a very brief cross-examination and, following that, I expect to make very brief oral submissions, unless the panel directs otherwise that we should proceed in writ writing.  But given the issues here I think oral submissions may be the most efficient way to go.

So that is all I have by way of introduction.  Of course, I don't know if Mr. Gunde wants to add anything. Otherwise, we are ready to proceed with our first witness.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Gunde?

MR. GUNDE:  I am okay to proceed as expected.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, Mr. Jones, I will ask you -- I'll sit down so that I can use the mic.  Actually, you can have a seat, as well.  I believe the microphone may be on, Mr. Jones, if there is a green light there.
OEB COMPLIANCE COUNSEL - PANEL 1

Matt Jones, Affirmed


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just before we get started, and perhaps I should have done this as a housekeeping matter, but I have advised my friend, and I have provided him with a copy of this and I advised the case management team, as well.

I have prepared a brief that simply include all of the procedural orders and responses that have been made and filed since we were last here in July of 2017, simply to just have it all in one spot.  I propose to mark that as an exhibit, and I may refer to it from time to time, if that would be acceptable.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It would.

MR. SAFAYENI:  The one thing I would note, and this was simply a matter of inadvertence, is that there was a response from Ensqr on September 15, 2017, which has not been included.  I am not sure it is material for our purposes, but I will just note on the record that that response is not part of this brief.

I have separate copies if we need to go there, but I don't expect we will.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will we exhibit K2.1, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  PROCEDURAL ORDERS AND RESPONSES SINCE JULY 2017.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Whenever you are ready, Mr. Safayeni.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Safayeni:

MR. SAFAYENI:  Good morning, Mr. Jones.

MR. JONES:  Good morning.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I understand that you are an account director at ICF Olson.  Is that correct?

MR. JONES:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And ICF has been retained by the Ontario Energy Board to administer the Ontario Electricity Support Program, or OESP.  Correct?

MR. JONES:  That is correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And that program, as I understand it, allows energy customers to apply for and, if they are eligible, to receive credits on their energy bills.  Correct?

MR. JONES:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And part of your responsibilities as account director is to supervise and manage staff at ICF in discharging their duties related to the administration of the program.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. JONES:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And one of the utilities you and your team have had interactions with Ensqr.  Correct?

MR. JONES:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Before we speak specifically about Ensqr, I think it would be useful if you could walk us through and remind us of the steps that are necessary to happen before a customer gets an OESP credit on their bill, from the very application to it showing up on the bill.

Can you do that for us, please, Mr. Jones.

MR. JONES:  At a very high level, step one, of course, is an applicant submits an application.  This can be done in person at an intake agency, by mail, or on-line.

Once that information is received by ICF's system, it's packaged; all the application information is put into a file.  These files is sent to each utility across the province, and there are essentially three steps in the life cycle of that application.

The first step is to confirm with the utility that the information contained in the file we have sent contains active customers, and so it is a check to make sure their utility account information is correct and that they are currently customers of the utility.

Once that check is completed by the utility, the file is responded to, so we send a request file.  They a response file.

Once we receive their response file, it goes to step 2 of the application process, which is income verification.  That is done through the Ministry of Finance.  The processing time associated to that does not involve Ensqr at all.

Once we receive confirmation from the Ministry of Finance of the eligibility of the customer, we begin the second utility transaction whereby we send a file containing a code -- it's called the T value -- which represents a credit amount to the utility.

The utility applies the credit to the bill, acknowledges that the credit has been applied to that bill by sending us a response file to second request file.

Once we receive the second response file and we receive successful confirmation of the transaction, we assume that that is the end of the application life cycle and that that person is receiving a credit.

MR. SAFAYENI:  The T value you talked about, can you just describe a little bit more what exactly that is?


MR. JONES:  Sure.  So it is value.  So T0 through 13, each value represents a different OESP award amount or the T0, which represents non-eligibility.


MR. SAFAYENI:  But what you are providing is the code or the value, not an actual dollar amount.  Is that correct?


MR. JONES:  Precisely.


MR. SAFAYENI:  In terms of the ability of a utility to apply an OESP credit in the proper amount to a customer's bill, could that happen before phase 1 is complete?  That is to say, before the utility has responded to ICF's request file with a response file?


MR. JONES:  No, because we haven't sent them the T value yet.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you.  And could that happen prior to phase 2 being complete?  That is to say, before the utility has responded to ICF for the very last time with a confirmation that the credit is being applied?


MR. JONES:  It could.  I mean, they would apply the credit and then send us the file indicating they had done so, and there may theoretically be a gap between the time that it's applied and the time that response file is received by ICF.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you.  May I approach the witness?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Jones, I have provided you with a two-page chart and, ignoring the two orange columns that are all the way to the right of the chart, do you recognize this document?


MR. JONES:  I do.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And at a high level, could you describe it for me, please.


MR. JONES:  Yes.  This is a list of all the applications that were submitted to Ensqr through our system.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you.  I would ask for this chart to be marked as the next exhibit, please.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  LIST OF APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED TO ENSQR.

MR. SAFAYENI:  For the record, I will just note that I provided a copy of this chart to my friend Mr. Gunde, and he provided the comments that are in the last two columns, the orange columns.  To kind of try and streamline things, I have included them on the same document, so we have it all in one place.  The information in the other columns is from ICF, and Ensqr's comments are as indicated in the orange columns.  Mr. Jones, can you confirm for me when this chart is current, up to, at least approximately?

MR. JONES:  We refreshed this data.  We checked to make sure nothing had changed, and so as of Thursday last week this is up to date.


MR. SAFAYENI:  All right.  So I am just going to kind of take you through column by column, if we could, to try to understand exactly what this chart is showing us.  Let's start with the application ID.  What is that, just very briefly?


MR. JONES:  Any time an application is submitted, it is assigned an application ID.  For clarity, it doesn't necessarily mean -- so one person can submit an application twice, and so there could theoretically be two applications IDs under one individual.


MR. SAFAYENI:  The next two columns, Type and Medium, could you briefly explain what those are.


MR. JONES:  Certainly.  Type refers to the stream of application.  If you are a tax filer, we can perform income verification through the CRA and you use the AIB application type.  If you are a non-tax filer, you need manual income verification, which is what the MIB stands for.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Award Amount and Tariff Code.  Can you take us through that briefly.


MR. JONES:  Certainly.  There aren't any on page 1, but if you flip to page 2 you can see that, in the green cells, there are award amounts which we have put in here, and then there is the tariff code, which is the value that is sent to the utility to apply the credit.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you.  The Start and Submit columns.  Could you take us through those, please.


MR. JONES:  Certainly.  Once an application is received by the system, that is the time stamp for that application.  They are both the same date.  The date is not showing under start, but it is the same as the submit date.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is the start a kind of coded value for the submit date?


MR. JONES:  It is just formatting in Excel, frankly.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And I think maybe for these next questions it might be more useful if we turn to the second page of the chart, because of the actual values in the cells, but the column after the Submit column is UI1 Processing Time.  Can you walk us through what that is?


MR. JONES:  When I referred to the three phases of an application life cycle, UI1 refers to the first utility interaction.  And so that is where we confirm the account information with the utility.  And UI2 refers to the second utility interaction where have sent the credit amount and expect the response on that.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So just to be absolutely clear, what is the end point of UI1?


MR. JONES:  When we receive a response file from the utility acknowledging the customer is active.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So when it says UI1 Processing Time, what are we seeing there?


MR. JONES:  From the time we sent the file to Ensqr to the time they sent a response file.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is that an absolute count of all the days, or only some of the time that we see in the UI1 processing time?

MR. JONES:  Sorry.  Can you clarify the question?


MR. SAFAYENI:  Sorry.  Is the number of days we see under UI1 processing time every single day between when you have sent the request and when the response has been received, or every single day in phase 1?  Or is it only a subset of that time attributable to Ensqr?


MR. JONES:  The days you see these numbers, it is all time that is Ensqr processing time.  Any system activity on our time is not included in this time.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So the actual time for phase 1 would be a little bit longer than what we see on here?


MR. JONES:  Once the application is submitted, typically within 24 hours it is sent out in a request file.


MR. SAFAYENI:  The next column we see is UT2 Success.  Can you take us through what that means?


MR. JONES:  That is when we receive the confirmation on the second transaction, which is telling us that the utility has in fact applied a credit amount.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So is that the very last step in the processing of an application process?


MR. JONES:  That's right.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And UI2 processing time, can you take us through what that means?

MR. JONES:  Once we receive confirmation of income -- sorry, once we receive the award amount, rather, we generate the request file for the UI2 transaction, which is the second utility interaction, and then when we receive the response file for that request file for those applications we then understand the process to be complete, and that time period there reflects that amount of time.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So I will ask you the same question I did for phase 1.  Is the number we see under that UI2 processing time column all of the time for phase 2 or only the time attributable to Ensqr's activities?


MR. JONES:  Only the time attributable to Ensqr's activities.

MR. SAFAYENI:  The next column is called End, and I gather that is the same kind of code or formatting issue as with the start column?


MR. JONES:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Then if we look at Total Processing Time, what is that column?  Can you describe that for us?


MR. JONES:  That is the UI1 and UI2, so both utility transactions, the total amount of time it took for both of those to occur, on Ensqr's side.


MR. SAFAYENI:  With respect to applications received before October 16, 2017, which is the submit date at the very top of the second page, for applications received before that date, how many were processed?


MR. JONES:  None.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Are those the applications we see on the first page?


MR. JONES:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  If an application isn't processed within a certain amount of time, does the applicant need to reapply?


MR. JONES:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  How long is that amount of time?


MR. JONES:  Our retention cycle requires that we purge certain data after 180 days.  Therefore after 18 days an applicant is required to reapply.


MR. SAFAYENI:  If we look at the second page, which these are the applications received after or submitted after October 16, 2017, what do the green rows represent?


MR. JONES:  These are applications that went all the way through all three steps of the process.  So they are either approved or denied applications.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  If we can go through a couple of specific entries.  We see for row 30 application ID 547814.  Can you provide any insight as to what happened for that particular application?


MR. JONES:  In this case, the applicant had submitted the original application ID of 547814 and, for one reason or another, decided to submit a second application which superseded their fist.  And they received a credit -- the same applicant received a credit under application ID 525878.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is it possible it is under 550717?


MR. JONES:  I am sorry, yes.  I am looking at the wrong column.  You are correct -- or, sorry, row.


MR. SAFAYENI:  For the last two rows, rows 38 and 39, starting with 38, do you have any information as to what happened with that application?


MR. JONES:  I am trying to remember.  I know -- for both of these applications, one of them, I can't remember which, but one of them, the applicant move today a different place and is now covered under a different utility.  And we have confirmed that that specific applicant has received a credit under that new utility.  So this is an abandoned application.  I can't remember which one of the two.  The other one had an error with the account information that was submitted.  The applicant has to correct that error before the application will proceed.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you.  Is it fair to say that, since October 16, 2017, in terms of applications that have been submitted and require conduct or action on Ensqr's part, those applications have at least eventually been processed in full?


MR. JONES:  That is correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Now, we see the processing time information on the chart.  In terms of how long it should take a utility to respond to ICF once they have received a file, what is the expected length of time for that to be turned around?


MR. JONES:  The specification document, the utility interface specification indicates that utilities should respond to request files every day.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Safayeni, on that last note, Mr. Jones, when you say they should be, like, what is the authority of that document that we are referring to?


MR. SAFAYENI:  I am going to provide it right now.  I am going to ask it be marked as an exhibit.  However, it is stamped confidential, so I would is ask that, at least for now, we make it confidential and not part of the public record.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, why don't we mark that as KX2.3, just to note it as confidential.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. KX2.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "ONTARIO ELECTRICITY SUPPORT PROGRAM UTILITY INTERFACE SPECIFICATIONS"

MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Jones, when you talked about the specifications document, I have just handed you a document called "Ontario Electricity Support Program Utility Interface Specifications."  Is this the document you were referring to?


MR. JONES:  It is.


MR. SAFAYENI:  If you turn to page 7, under section 1.4.3.  Do you have that in front of you, Mr. Jones?


MR. JONES:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And you go to the end of the first paragraph under 1.4.3.  Can you read that sentence for me, please.


MR. JONES:  "It is expected that the utility will
respond to the request file within one business day."

MR. SAFAYENI:  And is that the basis for your statement that the responses should be received within one day?


MR. JONES:  It is.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is that one day -- just to be clear, is that one day per phase?  And there are -- you took us through -- there are the two phases for the utility to respond.  Is it one day per phase?


MR. JONES:  That is correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Putting aside Ensqr for the moment, in terms of other utilities who participate in this program and have their customer applications processed through it, what is their general response time upon receiving request files from ICF?


MR. JONES:  On average, I would say it is about three-and-a-half days.  I think that it depend on the size and scale of the utility, meaning some utilities have very automated systems which do all this stuff very quickly.  Some utilities are much smaller, of course, and have less resources to invest in that kind of automation and process files manually.  These utilities tend to take three to five days to process a file.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So let's go back to the chart, Exhibit K2.2, if we might.  If we go to page 2, at the top, for row 29, let's just kind of maybe walk through at least this one, just to make sure we understand the information in the chart.  So for this particular application, it was submitted on what date?


MR. JONES:  This was submitted on the 16th of October in 2017.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And the ultimate processing of the application was completed on what date?


MR. JONES:  December 6, 2017.


MR. SAFAYENI:  For the phase 1 that you described, sending the request file and having the customer -- certain customer information validated and then receiving a response file, how much of that time was attributable to Ensqr for this particular application?


MR. JONES:  Eleven business days.


MR. SAFAYENI:  For the second phase, how much time was attributable to Ensqr?


MR. JONES:  Fourteen business days.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And so the total processing time attributable to Ensqr was how long?


MR. JONES:  It was 25 business days.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Obviously, if we look at the submission time and the end date between October 16 and December 6, there are more than 25 days there.  So I gather the rest of the time went to activities that were not attributable to Ensqr?


MR. JONES:  That is correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  From speaking with your team and reviewing information associated with Ensqr, do you have any sense of why Ensqr's processing time often takes longer than the kind of three to five days that you have identified?


MR. JONES:  I would say, based on the feedback of my team, there have been a few, I think, things that we could touch on here. One is just a general lack of responsiveness, you know, time it takes to communicate and go back and forth, and I think that is maybe compounded by the fact that their, as I understand it, technical support is overseas and is not available during business hours.  We have received some files that were not configured properly.  So this technical document here provide very explicit prescriptive requirements for these files, and we have received some files that are not formatted per this document, and that creates problems when we try to process them.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Just to be clear for the record, when you say "this document," you are talking about the OESP utility interface specifications?


MR. JONES:  That is right.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Those are all my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Jones.


MR. JONES:  Thank you.


MR. SAFAYENI:  If you just hold on, Mr. Gunde or the panel may have further questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Gunde, do you have any questions of Mr. Jones?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes, I do.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Gunde:

MR. GUNDE:  Thank you for your update.  I just have a few questions.  I was going through some of the details of the files which have been processed.  First, I want to look at the exhibit which was provided with the specification.  It says utility in the section 1.4.3 which has --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Gunde, just before you carry on with that, I am a little concerned that we are on air describing a confidential document.  I am trying to understand the rationale for this being a confidential document in the first place, Mr. Safayendi.  I am wondering if you can help me out with that.

MR. SAFAYENDI:  I am going by simply the marking on the face of the document being confidential.  I mean, I gather it has something to do with it being a kind of highly technical program that relates to lot of personal information, but I am not certain about that, Mr. Chair.  I mean, I think -- perhaps we can deal with this better off-line, but I think that the workaround may be that, if we are simply referring to this one section, and I don't think we are going to get into the technical kind of code aspects of it, there may not be as strong of confidentiality concerns around this section 1.4.3.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I am simply relying on the advice you've received in doing that.  So let's carry on.
MR. SAFAYENI:  My understanding is that Mr. Gunde is not going to refer to anything kind of beyond the section I took the witness to.  So I don't think there are concerned about that.

MR. GUNDE:  Thank you. This is with regard to the processing in January, February, March, when we were processing files weekly from our technical team, and that is where I wanted to refer.  It is -- in the section it says:  "Response files can be uploaded by the utility to the response folder at any time."  And if I look at other service-level agreements and other requirements where we have to respond within one day, it is not very clear.  And the other thing I want to understand is, if we are processing, if I look at it, nothing has exceeded 30 days.  It has been, like, typically 21 days.  And if you are saying that it has to be within one business day, and if other utilities are doing it in three to five days, is everybody facing an action like this?


MR. JONES:  I can't speak to who is facing actions and who isn't.


MR. GUNDE:  So is that enforceable, that we have to process it in one day?  That is kind of confusing for our team.  Right now, we are processing it every day, but  until March, until we got the response from ICF, we were processing it weekly.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I suppose to the -- I won't speak for Mr. Jones, here, but, Mr. Jones, would you have any knowledge of the enforceability of any of the specifications?

MR. JONES:  It is cited in the distribution system code.  Beyond that, I can't speak to that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps you can help me out, Mr. Safayeni.  Is the compliance with the utility interface specifications a licensed condition of the code, or a code adherence condition?


MR. SAFAYENI:  So, I mean, this may be more a matter of argument, but I am happy to at least try to address it briefly.  I mean, I think on the face of it I don't think the language in 1.4.3, to be fair, is a hard and fast, strict requirement, even on the face of it.  It says that it is "expected" that the utility will respond.  And to answer your question, Mr. Chair, about how this fits into the overall scheme, the Unit Sub-Metering Code in section 5.5.1 states that:
"A unit sub-meter provider shall adhere to any technical and administrative requirements set out in a procedure or guideline issued by the CSP, provided that no such procedure or guideline is effective until it is approved by the Board."

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Safayeni, I am just questioning the enforcement team's approach, now.  Is this a new angle on the original, or is this new information?  These are very specific -- and I recognize the passage of time.  Now, we are into a scenario where things look like they are happening, but now it is a matter of whether or not they are happening fast enough.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The original position by the enforcement team was that Ensqr didn't have the ability to process.  And now, everything I am hearing this morning is about they have perhaps the ability but not the ability to do it fast enough.  Are we now looking at a different type of compliance matter?


MR. SAFAYENI:  No.  Mr. Chair, thank you for the question.  And let me be clear.  I mean, this is not a new allegation.  The theory is not that they are bound by a 24-hour turnaround time.  I think, in response to information about the ability to process applications, the enforcement team certainly believes that it is relevant for the Board to understand all the information around the processing of applications and the ability to do so, including the amount of time it takes.  But -- and I provide this document and the information about other utilities' ability to process applications and the time they take to do so simply as context so this panel understands what the playing field is like, so to speak. But, no, the theory is not going to be that, because Ensqr has taken more than 24 hours, that this somehow is a separate and independent basis for revocation or suspension.  That's not going to be the --

MR. QUESNELLE:  And the only reason I want to fully understand what the approach is at this stage is so that Mr. Gunde can ask questions which are relevant.  I agree that a lot of this could go to argument, but if -- I would want Mr. Gunde to understand what the current stance of the compliance team is before he asks his questions.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think it is fair to say that we are providing this information so the panel has a full awareness of the ability to process applications, and not as a separate basis or a new argument.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Gunde, if you could just restrict your questions, then, to any information that you need to have so that you can make your final comments, as opposed to addressing the witness with your final comments.   Okay?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes, thank you.  Sorry about that.  I just wanted to....  One thing is I heard a comment when you were saying that some of the files had an issue.  Was this in recent months, or is it in December that we had issues?


MR. JONES:  It was likely -- if I recall correctly, this was more in December, around that timing, when you guys had started to work with our team to fix this stuff.


MR. GUNDE:  Can we be -- can I be okay in phrasing that, since February, we haven't seen any issues and it has been fairly consistent?  The files have been okay, just about processing?


MR. JONES:  When you say "issues," can you elaborate a little bit?


MR. GUNDE:  There were mow technical issues in receiving our files?


MR. JONES:  Not that I am aware of, no.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Then I have to ask that question, Mr. Gunde.  Mr. Jones, you have mentioned this document was current up until last Thursday last week.  That would be May 10th?

MR. JONES:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And does it include all activities?  So there is nothing missing here?

MR. JONES:  Nothing new.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. GUNDE:  Just one more question.  There are all these summary reports which I have been receiving calls that these applications were outstanding.  Is there a place where we can access these reports?  Because if it is pertaining -- because it was difficult to understand what issues your team was seeing, when we have no insight other than dropping a file.  Is there a place we are supposed to access?


MR. JONES:  As I understand it, these reports are sent to utilities monthly.


MR. GUNDE:  Which is just a count, right?


MR. JONES:  Pardon me?


MR. GUNDE:  It is just a count of the number of applications.  Am I correct?


MR. JONES:  Correct.  That is correct, yes.


MR. GUNDE:  Those --


MR. JONES:  I believe you also get a list.  If I am not mistaken, there is a list of applications that are sent.  I would have to follow up with my team.


MR. GUNDE:  Thank you.  Those are the only questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Gunde.  Mr. Safayeni?



MR. SAFAYENI:  No.  No further questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No further questions?  Do you need a recess, Mr. Safayeni, or would you like to make submissions?


MR. SAFAYENI:  I am not sure if Mr. Gunde wants to kind of present his own evidence in chief.  I don't require a recess, but if the panel or if Mr. Gunde wants a quick break, that is fine with me.


MR. GUNDE:  I am okay.  I can proceed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's do that, then.  Thank you very much, Mr. Jones.  You are excused.  Mr. Gunde, you will be providing your evidence, so I will ask you to step forward and we will have you affirmed.

I am not sure of the protocol, Mr. Sidlofsky, as to whether or not Mr. Gunde is still affirmed, but I will do it anyway, just so we have it covered off.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It can never hurt to affirm again, sir.
ENSQR CORPORATION - PANEL 1

Harshal Gunde, Affirmed

Direct Evidence by Mr. Gunde:


MR. GUNDE:  I know we met in September and then there have been subsequent procedural orders which we have tried to follow.  Yes, we are a small utility company, as we had mentioned last time, and we tried to get through all the technical issues, even the timing issue which has been highlighted since March.  End of March, we have converted our schedule to be a nightly thing, nightly pick-up and drop-off of the files.  So as of right now, our interface team works on it every day and respond back.  Since April we haven't seen any new files and, for evidence, I have two e-mails from the ICF Olson team, which confirms that there is nothing outstanding from Ensqr which is being held off.  So I would like to submit these two e-mails as evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The exhibit number?  There is nothing confidential in these documents?


MR. GUNDE:  No.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, that will be K2.4.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And K2.4 is copies of two e-mails, one dated April 16 and one dated May 9.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  COPIES OF E-MAILS DATED APRIL 16 AND MAY 9.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I will just note for the record, I mean, although the ICF representative who authored these e-mails actually is not Mr. Jones and is not here, I don't think the contents of them is controversial and, in fact, we accept the contents of the e-mails on their face as being accurate.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That is helpful.  Thank you.


MR. GUNDE:  Thank you.  One thing I wanted to address to everybody is, until date, I have heard about OESP processing and looking at the enforcement decision in August 2016 when we accepted an issue with our team.

We haven't seen a single customer until date who has complained, a single customer from this particular unit which has lodged a complaint or they have missed out on their OESP credit.  I haven't seen anything coming back saying that the customer was affected.

If you look at the same file which Mr. Justin had submitted today, you can see on page o1ne on the right side, which is our comments, you will see a few customers whose applications, even though we did not process in the past because of our technical issues, we have gone ahead and we have been providing credit until they reapply and get their proper tariff code.

This particular building where we provided this service has a lot of issues with language, where we have sat and counselled them to reapply, and for whoever the original application is still valid and they are a still a customer, we are processing and giving them a credit from our side as part of the enforcement from August 2016, with a tariff code.  So from our side, as Ensqr, we have tried to take care of all the customers, even though we had technical issues which have now been solved.  We are going ahead and processing OESP applications as quickly as they come about.

I think we are satisfying most of the technical requirements and, until date, I can tell you from our side, because of this enforcement action and things happening here, we haven't been able to go ahead with the main customer, the building owner, to go and settle -- to do a settlement with IESO and receive the funding back.  So we taking a cost on our side because of all these enforcement actions because, unless this is solved, the building owner doesn't want us to go ahead and finish the settlement and receive the credits from IESO.

So these are the things I wanted to present from our side, that we are processing the applications; we haven't unduly charged the customers; and we are actually giving credits to customers who are right now not even assisted by the OESP team.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Safayeni?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Safayeni:

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, and good morning, Mr. Gunde.  So just in terms of some kind of background questions, I think last time you were here you described Ensqr's main line of business as providing energy audits or energy efficiencies services for commercial clients.  Is that still accurate?

MR. GUNDE:  It is still one of our activities, yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is it the main kind of business line?


MR. GUNDE:  Currently yes.  Because of this enforcement action we are not able to market as a sub-metering provider until we get our licence reinstated.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, as I understand it, you do have a licence, though, right?  You did get your licence reinstated?


MR. GUNDE:  No.  It has been valid, but the extension which was supposed to happen from February of 2018, they have put a hold on the renewal for the next five years.  And with these proceedings on record, we don't want to go ahead and acquire new customers until we are fully out of this.  And that is a corporate thing we are doing on our side so that we don't get into other issues later with new customers.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  In terms of the number of employees that Ensqr has kind of dealing with USMP issues, I think last time around you said it was basically you.

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is that still accurate?


MR. GUNDE:  We have one more employee who is addressing the day-to-day billing issue.  So we have two, and then the interface and technical competencies have been outsourced.  So there is a monthly -- there is a team of two to three individuals who addresses the interfaces and the billing system.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And are those people located where?


MR. GUNDE:  There is one person in Canada, on the outsource team, and two other resources in India, who address the technical programming issues.  They don't have -- they can't view the data, but just address any technical issues.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Do they have direct interaction with ICF, where necessary?


MR. GUNDE:  If necessary, yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Do you still have day-to-day involvement --


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  -- in the OESP and USMP activities?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes, completely.  I have been going to the building and addressing all the customer's issues, as well.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And being kind of careful to avoid giving more specifics than necessary, I understand that you did -- or Ensqr did sign a contract with the new property owner at the residential building in question.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  It is an interim contract, not the full contract, because of these proceedings.  They still want to be sure that we could address the billing and do the billing for the next seven years that we have outstanding on the original contract.


MR. SAFAYENI:  How long is the interim contract slated for?


MR. GUNDE:  Until we finish these proceedings.  So, like, by the end of this year they would take a call.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Sorry?


MR. GUNDE:  By the end of October, they would have to make a decision.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So it is valid until the end of October?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And when was it signed, the interim contract?


MR. GUNDE:  After we got the -- last year, in October.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Gunde, I am going to show you an e-mail.  May I approach the witness?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So, Mr. Gunde, you can ignore the e-mail at the top, but the e-mail kind of two third of the way down the page from yourself to the Board Secretary.  Do you recognize that e-mail?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I would ask that this be entered as the next exhibit.  I believe we are at K2.4.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  K2.5.
EXHIBIT NO. KX2.5:  E-MAIL FROM MR. GUNDE TO THE BOARD SECRETARY.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there any need to keep this in confidence, Mr. Safayeni?

MR. SAFAYENI:  As I look at it now, Mr. Chair, we may have to make slight redactions just kind of specific to the address of the building, perhaps.  So I appreciate the comment and perhaps it is safer to mark it confidential for now and we could put a redacted copy on the record.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that KX2.5.

THE WITNESS:  And also the name of the property management.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Correct, thank you.  Yes, I will make sure that that happens.  And I might as well add for the record that this is actually a response that I referred to earlier as not being included in K2.1 by reason of inadvertence, but it is a response that, Mr. Gunde, I believe you provided to the Board in response to a question that was asked in a procedural order.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So I just want to understand what the situation is with -- we will just call it you and the property manager.  Because what it says here is that you -- first of all it is dated September 2017.  And if we just read the first bullet point, or number 1, which is really what I am interested in here, it says:
"Ensqr Corp. has finalized the contract with the property owner and has started billing all the new contracted tenant for their electricity charges on a monthly basis.  The contract is for 10 years and will be abided by both companies."

I will stop there.  So can you just explain for me whether that is accurate?  Because --


MR. GUNDE:  That is still accurate, that we have negotiated.  But unless we can get out of this -- the whole procedure here and these hearings, and we get it back to a regular non-restricted entity licence, we won't be signing the contract.  We are just going ahead with the assumption of the previous contract until we finish the whole proceedings.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So let me just --

MR. GUNDE:  That is because, as part of the procedural order, we had to give them a copy of it.  And even though we have finalized, they did not sign the 10-year contract.  They just gave us go-ahead with the interim until we get everything settled.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So just to make sure I understand it, there is no signed final agreement for 10 years?


MR. GUNDE:  Not yet.


MR. SAFAYENI:  There is an agreement that goes until October?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And what happens after that will depend on the outcome of the enforcement proceedings?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Without naming the address of the property, is this still the only residential building where Ensqr provides USMP services at this date?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think you said that this residence has at least some residents who have trouble speaking English?


MR. GUNDE:  Approximately 50 percent of the residents have an issue, and even the building property management is not enforcing the regular billing receivable recovery from the tenants because of this issue.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Because of the trouble with English speaking?


MR. GUNDE:  And also there are welfare issues and other things.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So is this -- based on what you have said, are the residents in this building, are many of them lower-income resident?


MR. GUNDE:  Most of them.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is there a high turnover in this residence, in terms of people moving out?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, Mr. Gunde.  Could you -- I am not sure if you have it with you.  Do you have the chart that I provided with you?  Okay.  And you had a chance to review this before coming here today.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And subject to your columns which are in the orange, you don't take issue with the information provided in this chart.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  No.


MR. SAFAYENI:  We can agree that the information is accurate?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  Yes, no issues.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Let's start on the first page of the chart with the white boxes.  These are people who applied before October 16, 2017.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And let's ignore for the moment three customers that you have kind of made specific comments about, lines 27 and 28, where you say kind of they are the same as a later customer.  And also line 12, where -- actually now that I look at it that comment is cut off.  I apologize.  The comment for line 12 under the Ensqr comments in the final column should say: "Same customer as 562494."  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Leaving aside those three, what we are left with on this page are customers who all applied at one point in time --


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  -- to get OESP credits.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And those customers, again leaving aside the three that I just identified, lines 12, 27, and 28, didn't have their applications processed?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  That is correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  And we have gone back and educated most of them, asking them to reapply because they had expired as of October, but other than the three, nobody else understood what they had to do.  And we keep educating them every month when we drop off the bills to go ahead and reapply.  There is also an issue with the income verification part of OESP which I wanted to highlight.  Most of these customers, they don't want to go ahead with the scrutiny on the income verification.  That is why they are also afraid that -- it is a myth, I would say, but they are afraid that they are asking them to invite additional people, just because of the psychology.


MR. SAFAYENI:  When you have say you are reminding them every month, are you doing that through personally delivering the bills and having a conversation with these people?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  Yes.  I myself personally do it.


MR. SAFAYENI:  You do it?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And you do that every month?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  For everybody in the building?


MR. GUNDE:  For all these people who are outstanding.


MR. SAFAYENI:  For all the people who are outstanding?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And are you able to communicate effectively with all of these people, or are the problems with some?


MR. GUNDE:  There are problems.  We try to bring somebody who is around who can understand English and translate into the native language.  It works sometimes.  It has worked for a few.  It doesn't work -- and it's, again, who is the applicant who would go ahead and do it.  Because the -- it is, again, the income verification is where they have problems.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So is it fair to say that the communication with all of the people isn't always perfect?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And when you say that the income verification is a concern, that is because some of these people have communicated that to you?  Is that how you...?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  What you base that on?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So let's go through -- putting aside the people who you say have reapplied, let's go through the other two categories of comments you have made on this chart.  The first is: "Not a customer."  Do you see that?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So were these people who were Ensqr customers at some point in time?  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And your understanding is that they are no long customers?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  They no longer live there.  They have vacated the units.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And do some of them -- is that the case for all of them, or do some of them still live in the building but have just cancelled with Ensqr?


MR. GUNDE:  No.


MR. SAFAYENI:  No?  They have all left the building?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  The only person who cancelled with Ensqr, I think, is highlighted on line 32.  Line 32, the customer -- after the change in management, he doesn't want to resign with any electricity bill.  There is an issue with OESP in the Rental Act.  The issue is, if there is somebody sitting there in a unit with a rental agreement which predates OESP, so if they have had a lease for let's say the last six years, the management cannot ask them to sign up for a sub-metered electricity charge.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Without getting into the kind of legal interactions between these statutes, so for the person in row 32, your evidence is they are still in the building?


MR. GUNDE:  They are still in the building.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And they are not signed up with Ensqr?


MR. GUNDE:  They moved the unit because of renovation, but when they moved back to a different unit they were asked to sign up, but there is an issue with the management.  They don't want to sign up at all, and we can't force them.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Subject to that qualification, everybody else who you say is not a customer has left?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Before they left, did those customers ever have to pay Ensqr for their energy bills?


MR. GUNDE:  Most of them, no.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Some of them, yes?


MR. GUNDE:  Some of them paid.  If you see the past proceeding, some of them, the electricity bill was paid by the LEED program.  And, like, that was just a partial relief on their electricity bill because it was a one-time maximum of $500.  The others, we did not go ahead and enforce the payout.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So the only people who paid were people who got relief under the LEEF program?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  And that was also partial, not complete.


MR. SAFAYENI:  They paid to the extent that they received relief?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And the others who did not pay, does Ensqr plan to pursue them for the amounts?


MR. GUNDE:  No.


MR. SAFAYENI:  The other category of people, or of comment, rather, is processing as T1?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Do I have it right that these customers are still in the building?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  They are still Ensqr customers?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  They have applied for OESP?


MR. GUNDE:  In the past, yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  In the past, correct.  And their application hasn't been processed through the system?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And, I think as we heard from Mr. Jones, they need to reapply because it has been too long.


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  It has been more than 180 days.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  When you say "processing is T1," what you mean is that Ensqr is itself applying a discount on their bills equal to the amount of the T1 tariff code.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  The actual amount of the credit that those customers may be entitled to could be greater or less than that?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  It could be nothing?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  And we are not enforcing payment of the rest of the bill, all of them.  We have held it off, and we are trying to educate that, unless you get the tariff, we don't know how much, maybe it will be zero, because some of them may be eligible for a very high tariff code.  So we keep encouraging every month to go ahead and reapply.  We even sat down with our laptops to see if we could apply on their behalf.  They did not want to give us the information.


MR. SAFAYENI:  You have anticipated exactly kind of my next question, but let me make sure I understand it.  For the people who are being processed as T1, you are saying you are not -- you are not requiring them to pay.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Have some of them paid anyway?


MR. GUNDE:  In the past, like last year when they had a whole bunch of LEEP processing, yes, they have paid some of the money.  Like $400, $500.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And, again, only to the extent of the LEEP?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is Ensqr's plan basically to wait until the OESP application process has been fully completed for these customers before insisting on payment?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And at that point, what would happen?


MR. GUNDE:  They would go ahead and retroactively calculate the complete amount.  We will look at how much we can settle with IESO and how much we cannot.  And, finally, the customer would not -- would get the full credit. It may be a charge on our side.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Would they have to pay a lump sum for whatever the amount is owed, if any, beyond the credit?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  We would basically do a retroactive calculation and, if they have to pay, yes, we would then start enforcing the collection of the bills.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Because for some of these people, it could be month and months.  Right?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  There is a potential, at least, for a sump sum amount fee payable?


MR. GUNDE:  And we have always set up payment plans at this building just because of the economic hardships they face.  We also try to work with some social workers who come and work on these cases.  We try to work with them to figure out a convenient payment plan.  We have never -- especially with the lower income, never imposed a penalty or an interest charge on the funds.  And the building management is also sympathetic towards the cause, so we have tried to work with them and address these issues.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Between March -- if you look at the bottom of the first page, you see there is an application submitted on March 2, 2017.  Do you see that?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Then the next one is October 17, 2017, on the next page?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  There is quite a gap there.  Do you have any explanation or insight into why there is that gap?


MR. GUNDE:  The building has gone through a lot of changes since the management changed.  There is a whole different rental issue going on there, and also the heating and cooling issues, and those things.  They did have, like, a whole freeze period when nobody wanted to pay anything or even pay the rent or electricity.  So it is just a management issue there.  And since, like, last year, like sort of around October, they have renovated a lot of the building, and I think things have streamlined now and everybody is up to date.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So you think it is because of issues going on in the broader building?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I want to take you through -- and I am going to try to be as helpful as I can here.  I am going to try and take you through the questions in Procedural Order No. 4.  You know what, I can give it to you.  I have provided the witness with a copy of K2.1, which is the brief of the various procedural orders and responses.  And what I would like to try and do here is kind of go between tabs 8 and 9 and try and clarify, to the extent that we can, the responses provided for Procedural Order No. 4.  So maybe we start at page -- tab 8, page 52.  Do you have that in front of you, Mr. Gunde?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  The procedural order says:
"In its December 4, 2017 response Ensqr stated that it has completed the enrolment of one customer under the OESP.  Ensqr states that the customers qualifies under the T9 tariff code and the amount of the credit is $75 per month.  The enforcement team states the amount of the tariff Ensqr identifies is incorrect and does not correspond with the appropriate tariff code.  Furthermore, the enforcement team states the date of the invoice that Ensqr provided as evidence that it is applying the benefit to the customer is dated two days prior to when Ensqr would have received the proper information necessary to apply the benefit.  The OEB directs Ensqr to respond to these concerns.  The response must include a statement as to whether Ensqr believes it has identified the proper tariff code for this customer and is applying the correct credit and amount and, if so, why it believes this is accurate."


So I wanted to see if we can try and shed some light on this.


And maybe in fairness, before we get into that, if we flip to the next tab, which is tab 9, you will see that your answer is there.  It says:

"The latest tariff tables have been received from OEB contact.  After searching for past communications, the tariffs used from January 2016 to April 2017 are..."


And then you have a chart.  Then you have another chart on the next page from May 2017 forward.


So let's just kind of try to break this down.  This whole question, turning back to tab 8 on page 52, this whole question deals with the first Ensqr customer whose application was processed.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And that, if we look at the chart, Exhibit K2.2, that is the customer with application ID 525878.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  You will see the tariff code there is T9.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And I presume that Ensqr believes that is the right tariff code and the right tariff amount there indicated as 113.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And I presume that the basis for Ensqr believing that it was applying the right tariff code, because you talk about the T9 tariff code in your communications with the Board, is that you had received information from ICF to that effect.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  No.


MR. SAFAYENI:  No?


MR. GUNDE:  It's not correct.  So the tariff codes, when they were revised, they were sent under two different things.  One was the interface specification, and another was, for May, it was sent as a OEB decision with an attachment saying these are the new tariff codes.


We had tried today clarify with ICF whether -- it is a T9 -- it was an issue because the code on our system, the way it was written was, it was referring to the older T9 tariffs.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So I think there are two things getting mixed up.  There is the tariff amount and then the tariff code.


MR. GUNDE:  The amount comes from the code.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, the amount comes from a document that that the OEB issues --


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  -- saying that T1 is this, T2 is this.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  But the tariff code, the fact of T1, T2, T3, et cetera, that is information you would have received from ICF?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So the basis for Ensqr believing that the T9 tariff code applied to this customer was that ICF must have communicated that information?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  It came through the file, yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And presumably you received that information before you issued the bill to the customer, otherwise you wouldn't have known the amount?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  You wouldn't have known the tariff code to apply.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Even if you ended up applying the incorrect amount, which was 75 instead of 113?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  For question 1B -- I am still on page 52 -- it says:

"Ensqr shall provide a copy of the communication in which ICF informed Ensqr regarding the tariff code for this customer and the amount of the tariff to be applied.  The copy of this communication must include evidence of the date it was received by Ensqr."

Do you see that?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  This is again going back to these were past customers who have reapplied.  So we tried to apply them the tariff as soon as we received it retroactively.  So even though we received it on 12/6, we started applying from the earliest date that we were giving the bills.  So we did retroactively apply the same code.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So when we go to the bill, which is on page -- I believe it is on page 32 of the volume in tab 5.


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is this the bill for this particular customer?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  I think so.  I don't have the all the -- yes, it is $75 that we applied.


MR. SAFAYENI:  It says: "Bill printed November 15, 2017."  Is that the right date or is that retroactively...?


MR. GUNDE:  That is the retroactively we were applying.  From the date that we have -- we had received this particular customer's first application, we started applying.


If you look at the total, I think the column is cut off, but I had put the original application number for this particular -- I think if I look at my spreadsheet I can tell you.  This particular customer had applied before.  We did not process this file.  We had -- once we received the correct information we go back and retroactively apply the correct tariff code.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think I understand all that.  I think my question is much simpler, and I believe it is what the procedural order is trying to understand, which is:  You have a date that the bill is printed, November 15, which it says "Bill printed November 15," and that is a little bit difficult to understand in light of when the tariff code was received.


I think I heard you say that the date that says bill printed here, that is a retroactive date.  You're going back and applying it then?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  But this document, page 32 of the record, was actually printed later on?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Is that fair?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  After you received the T9 tariff code from ICF?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  So what happens is, when we receive the correct code, we go back to all their bills from the date that we should apply them, reissue them all their bills, because we have to follow what is the credit, how much it would be, how much is the carryover.  And in the accounting rules, as per the OESP, we have to redo everything.


So we do go back and restate the bills and give it to them.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Because I think the enforcement team's information at that point was that the tariff code was provided on the 17th.  So it was difficult to understand why it was being applied on the 15th.  But if it was printed after the 17th, then that makes sense.


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  That is what happened?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  Sorry, yes.  We should say reprinted on that date.


MR. SAFAYENI:  No, I think at this point I am just trying to understand.


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  If we go back to tab 8, page 52, and it is probably just useful if you just keep a finger there, because I am going to keep flipping back and trying to go through these.


So that answers question C, which is if the date Ensqr received this communication is later than the 15th, Ensqr must explain how it could have prepared this bill without information from ICF.  I think we've just answered that question.


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Question 2:

"In its December 4, 2017, response, Ensqr has indicated it is applying a $30 per month OESP credit to nine customers.  The OESP enforcement team states that this credit is not an actual OESP credit and doesn't correspond to any existing tariff code.  In addition, the enforcement team indicates these customers have not yet been deemed eligible to receive OESP credit.  The OEB directs Ensqr to respond to these concerns.  Response must include a confirmation of whether Ensqr knows these nine customers have been deemed eligible by ICF or some other party to receive the OESP credit."

And, again, let's just kind of break this down.  By the time you provide the response at tab 9 of this brief, which is on February 12, 2018.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  By February 12, 2018, if we look at the chart, page 2 of the chart specifically, in fact five applications were processed by that time.  Right?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Application -- line 29.  Right?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Line 31, which is the same applicant as line 30.  So that is the second one.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And then lines 34 and 35?


MR. GUNDE:  Yes, and 37.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And 37.  Right.  But your response, if we go to page 55 under tab 9, your response to question 2A is, we know the nine customers who are applicants.  Their eligibility and tariff codes are not known yet.  Two of the nine have completed the reapplications and their tariffs are now known.  I guess, in fact, it was five.  Right?


MR. GUNDE:  It is 12 and 9, right?  There were totally 12.  For three we already had that information.  There were other nine, of which were two of them we received.  The other seven is, again, from page 1.  These are the old applications.  Some of them resubmitted.

MR. SAFAYENI:  My simple point is you say -- I am just trying to understand and make sure that the answers are clear for the panel.  Right?


MR. GUNDE:  Okay.


MR. SAFAYENI:  On February 12, you say two of the nine have completed the reapplications and their tariffs are now known?

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  But I am looking at the chart and, unless I am misunderstanding something, as of February 12 we had five people.  Right?  Is that right?

MR. GUNDE:  I think you are making a confusion.  If you see lines 34, 35, and 37.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Yes?

MR. GUNDE:  They are completely new applicants.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.


MR. GUNDE:  So they did not have any previous bills or anything.

The other two that I am talking about in that e-mail is line 29 and line 31.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Yes.


MR. GUNDE:  They are two of the old nine applications which have reapplied.

MR. SAFAYENI:  So your answer is only referring to people who had initially applied --


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  -- and are now reapplying?

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I see.  Okay.  And if we go back to page 53 under tab 8, these are the questions, these customers have not been confirmed as eligible, an explanation as to why Ensqr is providing $30 per month credit.

And I think we already have gone through this.  I think Ensqr's practice is to simply apply an amount that is equivalent to the T1 tariff code?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Until a determination is made?

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Still on page 53, question 2C:  "Clarification as to whether Ensqr is actually issuing bills and expecting payment from these customers based on a $30 credit.  If so, Ensqr must provide the number of months and time period for which has it has been issuing bills and expecting payment from these customers."

So, again, if I can is summarize what we talked about earlier, these are customers, let's just be clear, these are customers who have not had their application processed ‑‑


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  -- through the OESP system, but have applied at some point in the past?

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  So for those customers, Ensqr's position is that you are issuing bills.  Bills are showing up.  Correct?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You don't expect payment until processing has been completed?

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And those customers haven't paid beyond the amount of a LEEP support, if they have received some?

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Finally, question D:

"Ensqr shall indicate how it plans to deal with any amounts it claims are owed by these customers if it is determined either that they don't qualify or that the OESP credit is different than the $30 per month Ensqr is currently applying."


Again, if we can summarize what you said before, I think your evidence was, you can correct me I am wrong, that once an application is processed you intend to issue a bill that has retroactively applied the proper OESP tariff amount, if any?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes, correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And then collect for the remainder, if any?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  If we go to -- I am just looking at the chart.  Before I forget, let me just ask one quick question about row 33.  Do you have that in front of you?  From Exhibit K2.2?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  It says:

"Provided at the accepted rate from first application."

Can you just explain what that means?

MR. GUNDE:  So 556896 -- I don't remember which one, but this particular customer had a previous application and then later reapplied, so we got a tariff code of T7.

So according to that we went back to the first application date and applied that amount retroactively, according to T7.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So number 33 is somebody who had applied before?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Finally, the third set of questions in Procedural Order No. 4 ‑‑ I am still at page 53 in tab 8 of Exhibit K2.1 ‑‑ it says:

"The OEB enforcement team stated that two new applications for OESP eligibility were received on December 4th and 11th and they were submitted for confirmation on December 5th and 12th, 2017, respectively.  The OEB enforcement team states that, as of the date of their letter, December 15th, Ensqr had taken no actions to advance the processing of these applications.  The OEB directs Ensqr to respond to these concerns."

And I think we can deal with these questions rather quickly if we go back to the chart at Exhibit K2.2.


Am I right that these applications that are being referenced in question 3 are the entries at 30 and 31 of the chart, at lines 30 and 31?

MR. GUNDE:  I think so, yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  If we just look at the dates of December 4th and December 11th.


MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And I think ‑‑ based on your comment and the information we received from Mr. Jones, I don't think it is controversial those are the same individual who was applying.  Correct?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Gunde, Ensqr has a website.  Correct?

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  That website, I believe, now does include a link to the OESP portal.  Correct?


MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  It doesn't yet include the terms and conditions of Ensqr's contract.  Correct?  The terms of service, rather.

MR. GUNDE:  I thought it was there.  It is there in a different link about the terms of service, application form for the contract.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Is that on your website?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  The term said of service or conditions of service, is that information available on the website?

MR. GUNDE:  It was.  I will have to check back again.  I have not referenced this.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I don't have any further questions.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Safayeni.  Mr. Gunde, any of Mr. Safayeni's questions to you, do you want to revisit as far as what you originally provided in your evidence or your earlier comments?  Is there something you want to make more clear based on any of his questions?


MR. GUNDE:   I think I have taken care of most of it, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Mr. Safayeni, are you prepare to make oral submissions now, and then I would suggest a short break and then allow Mr. Gunde to respond?  If that makes sense, or we can take a break now if you would rather, having heard Mr. Gunde's evidence.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I would appreciate just a very short recess, even just five or 10 minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:   Why don't we return, then, at 11:25 a.m.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And you're excused, Mr. Gunde, from the witness stand.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:17 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:28 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Safayeni?


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Before I get started, I just want to make a brief point.


Mr. Gunde and I during the break took a visit together to the Ensqr website, and I know the evidentiary portion is closed, but I am making this statement on the record with Mr. Gunde's approval and consent.


The website does not currently include the terms or conditions of service, but Mr. Gunde assures me that his team will have that up within 24 hours.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What is the relevance of that, Mr. Safayeni?


MR. SAFAYENI:  The relevance is that part of the initial assurance of voluntary compliance terms, the breach of which brought us to the initial hearing, was that an OESP portal and the terms of service would be included on the website.


The portal piece of it has been now satisfied.  The terms of service piece has not been, yet, but I take Mr. Gunde at his word it will be rectified very soon.


MR. GUNDE:  Yes, I agree.  It was there, just not coming up, but we will get it rectified by today.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Submissions by Mr. Safayeni:

MR. SAFAYENI:  Mr. Chair, I can be, I think, very brief in closing.  I am not going to repeat the arguments or refer to the case law that I referred to the first time around.


I really just want to make two points.  The first is, I think the bottom line where we are now, and I think frankly you had adverted to it, Mr. Chair, in some of your earlier comments, is that Ensqr is now processing applications, but is doing so at what I would say is an unacceptably slow rate.


Last time we appeared before the Board in July 2017 the situation, of course, was different.  The real question at that proceeding was whether Ensqr even had the capacity to process applications at all.  And so I think, in fairness, it has to be acknowledged that, at least since October 16, 2017, as can see from the chart, that no longer seems to be an issue and that is a significant improvement that has to be recognized.


At the same time, if Ensqr is going to continue as a USMP, it is the OEB enforcement team's position that it needs to do better.  The utility interface specifications that I took you to set a target time of one day per phase, and we heard from Mr. Jones that, even if that is not strictly abided by by everyone, we are usually in the range of kind of three to five days per phase.


And the assurance of voluntary compliance that Ensqr signed, beyond what is in the utility interface specifications, the assurance of voluntary compliance requires Ensqr to process new applications in a timely manner according to establishing and mandated OESP processes.


Again, while I recognize the improvement that has been made in terms of the ability to process applications, in my submission, further improvement is required to satisfy that condition of the assurance of voluntary compliance.


The second point I want to make returns to one of the reasons that brought us to the hearing in the first, which is, to be blunt, a lack of responsiveness on the part of Ensqr.


Again, I want to be fair here, and I think we need to recognize that Ensqr did respond to the Board's requests for information since the last hearing.  When we were at the first hearing, there were situations where there was simply no response.  That has changed.  There is a response now.


At the same time, the responses that we did receive often came at the last possible moment, or they came late, or they came incomplete, or they came with information that was sometimes difficult to understand.  The record on that speaks for itself, and I am not going to go through it all with you.


My main point, though, is that a kind of lax, nonchalant attitude to providing information and responding to Board-ordered requests for information and Board-ordered deadlines is not acceptable for a regulated entity and, if Ensqr is going to continue in this industry as a USMP, it needs to understand that complying with its regulatory obligations is a serious matter and it requires full, timely, and consistent compliance.


Again, as I say, I am not going to re-tread territory that I covered the first time around, and I acknowledge that the landscape since then had has shifted.  But at the very least, in my submission, this Panel's decision needs to make absolutely clear to Ensqr that, if it should retain its licence and be able to participate in this industry, it needs to take its obligations seriously and it should understand that similar breaches or failures to comply in the future will be taken very seriously.


Subject to any questions you may have and any submissions in reply, that is my brief closing.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Safayeni.  Mr. Gunde, do you need some time or you prepared to respond?


MR. GUNDE:  I am prepared to respond.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

Submissions by Mr. Gunde:

MR. GUNDE:  Thank you, Mr. Safayeni, for summing it up.


I would like to address the Board and say that, yes, there have been issues in the past which we have tried to rectify.


There are a couple of things I wanted to highlight.  The USMP market, if I look at it, is largely governed by the USMP regulation for us to follow, but it is always on the business side which impacts how we perform.


A lot of the regulations from the Rental Act supersede what we can do in the USNP Act, and imposing the sub-metering provisions and the utility billing systems.  That severely handicaps us, because of the rental nature of these apartments where we were perform these services.


So that impacts how much investment we can make, how we can address the situation, and there is also the third party of the building management and the residents which we have to account for.


We have addressed most of the technical issues and have also staffed since last time, and we are coming to a place where even the interface processing timeliness is now in effect.  We process them every weekday; so for example for the Saturday/Sunday interface files, they will be processed today.  We have implemented that, so we have tried to address it.


In terms of a regulated entity and expanding our services, these proceedings and the issues that we have seen where we have been, for the last one-and-a-half years, stuck -- not stuck, but we have held back on our business expansion -- also impacts how we proceed forward.


So once we have access to a full licence, we do plan to expand these services and have appropriate staff to address the required compliance.


We understand it is a compliance market and we have to be on top of it.  And the timeliness of the communication is something that we will keep improving and addressing.


One thing I wanted to highlight is that, since the last six months that we have been going through these proceedings, we have never had a customer being unduly penalized or affected because of our issues.  So we have tried to take care of the customer first, and the regulations at the same time.


Thirdly, one thing that I want to highlight which is not an issue I am highlighting, but it is something which affects small companies like us.  The interface which is in question, right now we get a monthly summary e-mail which says the number of applications.  It does not give any details of what applications are outstanding, how they are outstanding, if there is an issue.  There is no communication back.


And if I can highlight, some of the timeliness from our side, it is also a question of ICF sometimes takes five business days to respond to a simple e-mail.  So it is just a case of improvement that I think will help both sides for compliance, is if we can get a summary of all these issues.


I think the first time I saw this kind of report is a week -- is this week from Mr. Justin Safayeni, which kind of helps in understanding where we were stuck or what were the issues that are being seen on the other side for us to be compliant.

If these reports were highlighted before, I think it would have made a much easier job for us to address the situation.

So, in summary, what I want to say is, yes, we have tried to improve and address all these issues.  I personally go and drop off all these bills for this building, just so that I can address customer issues, and also with our staff and outsourced activities we are handling these applications in a timely manner from our side.

We will keep making improvements, and I want to assure you that we want to proceed and expand, but we will expand only once we have met all the obligations and we are fully compliant with the rules and regulations.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Gunde.  Just a question, just so I understand your point that you were just making here.

The Exhibit K2.2, you say it is the first time you have seen something put together in this fashion?

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All this information is information that you have, is it not?

MR. GUNDE:  We do have it, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You could have made this same spreadsheet yourself?

MR. GUNDE:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. GUNDE:  But if there are errors on the interface side when they receive it, we don't have any way of understanding.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That point is taken.  I just wanted to point out that --


MR. GUNDE:  We could have.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- information you had available to you. Anything else, Mr. Safayeni.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Safayeni:

MR. SAFAYENI:  Just very briefly, and I don't want to belabour point, but I heard my friend kind of, in the course of his submission, essentially give evidence on it takes ICF so long to respond, and five days.

I am not sure anything is going to turn on that, but I think just my obligations require me to say on the record that that should have been properly a matter of evidence for my friend to give if he was going to give it, and frankly it should have been put to the ICF witness.

I recognize my friend is not a lawyer, so I am not going to make a big deal of that, but I would say that that statement should be given very little, if any, weight, because it wasn't kind of properly introduced in evidence and tested through the ordinary means.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And I do take your point.  I think the ICF witness did provide clarification -- not clarification, but detail that the processing times here are dates that are, and I think you accepted Mr. Gunde, that those are specific to Ensqr.

MR. GUNDE:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  With that, I recognize that this has been going on quite some time, but I also recognize that some closure on this would be appreciated by all, so we will have a decision out ASAP.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  We are adjourned.
--- Whereupon the proceeding adjourned at 11:41 a.m.
87

